FILED

OCT 03, 2013

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 31529-1

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

FRANK E. BRUGNONE, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF YAKIMA COUNTY
THE HONORABLE RUTH REUKAUF

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410
Attorney for Frank Brugnone
PO Box 829
Graham, WA
509.939.3038

I. Assignment of Error

- A. The trial court erred in making FF 70: "Ms. Appleton stated that she heard the person driving the vehicle ask: "Did you do it?" CP 153.
- B. The trial court erred in making FF 75: "Megan Nunley testified that she has some memory of the Defendant Frank Brugnone asking her for an alibi for the date of August 28, 1997." CP 153.
- C. The trial court erred in making FF 92: "The Defendant's statement is clearly self-serving." CP 155.
- D. The trial court erred in making FF 93: "The Defendant's statement is inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial." CP 155.
- E. The trial court erred in making FF 94: "The evidence establishes that the Defendant was not an innocent bystander, as he has claimed." CP 155.
- F. The trial court erred in making Conclusion of Law (CL) 1: "Based upon the totality of the evidence, both direct and circumstantial evidence, the Court finds that the Defendant, Frank Brugnone, is guilty of the crime of murder in the

second degree as a principal or as an accomplice.” CP 155.

G. The trial court erred in making CL2: “On August 28, 1997, Defendant Frank Brugnone, as a principal or as an accomplice to another, caused the death of Carolyn Faye Clift, a human being, and that she died as a result of the Defendant’s acts, as a principal or as an accomplice.” CP 155.

H. The trial court erred in making CL3: “The Court further finds, that the Defendant, or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon, a knife, with a blade between four and six inches that had the capacity to inflict death.” CP 156.

I. The evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction for second-degree murder as either a principal or an accomplice.

Issues Related To Assignments of Error

A. Did the State fail to prove Mr. Brugnone acted as a principal or an accomplice to murder when it proved only his physical presence at the time of the crime?

II. Statement of Facts

Procedural Background

On July 18, 2011, Frank Brugnone was charged by information with one count of second-degree murder, acting as a principal or an accomplice in the 1997 murder of Carolyn Clift. CP 4. Codefendant Michael Gorski was similarly charged. The causes were joined for trial. In pretrial hearings, the defendants made separate motions to sever, which were denied. (8/10/12 RP 56-81; 10/29/12 RP 99-127). Mr. Brugnone's case was tried to the court and Mr. Gorski's case was tried to a jury. CP 100; (1/17/13 RP 165).

Factual Background

On August 28, 1997, between 5:00 and 6:00 pm, Carolyn Clift went to the local liquor store and purchased a bottle of whiskey. (1/30/13 RP 688;690). She told the clerk a friend was coming over for dinner. (1/30/13 RP 689). As she left the store, Michael Gorski entered and made a purchase. Ms. Clift and Mr. Gorski did not acknowledge one another in the store, but after they left, the clerk saw Ms. Clift talking to Mr. Gorski near his car. (1/30/13 RP 701). That evening, between 6:45 pm and 7:30 pm,

Ms. Clift rented two movies from a video store. (2/4/13 RP1102-1106).

A witness recalled seeing Ms. Clift at the Wagon Wheel bar dancing by herself, after 9:00 pm that same evening. (2/1/13 RP 887-88). She left alone, before midnight. (2/1/13 RP 896). He also saw Mr. Brugnone that evening, but not with Ms. Clift. (2/1/13 RP 893). He did not remember seeing Mr. Gorski. (2/1/13 RP 894).

Megan Nunley, a former girlfriend of Mr. Gorski, reported she saw Mr. Gorski on the afternoon of August 28, 1997, at the Wagon Wheel. (2/1/13 RP 928). She invited him to her home. She left the bar sometime between 7:00 and 7:15 pm. (2/1/13 RP 939-40). Mr. Gorski arrived at her home between 8:00 and 8:30 pm. He told her he was late because he had given a woman a ride home from the liquor store. (2/1/13 RP 940-41; 944). He stayed until 10:00 or 10:30 pm. (2/1/13 RP 942).

At 11:19 pm, a Selah Square Apartment resident called police to say she heard a scream and thought it was her neighbor, Carolyn Clift. Ms. Clift was known to local police officers; they had previously received calls about her and considered her "a little mentally challenged." (1/29/13 RP 440;448). Responding officers arrived at 11:22 pm and entered the apartment. (1/29/13 RP 450).

They found Ms. Clift naked, lying in a pool of blood. (1/29/13 RP 453;482; 489-90;498).

An autopsy revealed that she had four stab wounds thru three wound entrances; one at the lower region of the left ribcage, another on the lower left chest, and one between the shoulder blades that had two wound paths from the same entrance. (1/30/13 RP 590;594). The wound to the back was unusual, requiring “a tremendous amount of force” to cut through the vertebrae. The pathologist stated the knife was likely pounded into the back to get the wound that deep. He opined that the hammer found in the apartment kitchen was of appropriate size, weight and mass to cause such a deep wound. (1/30/13 RP 593). He was unable to reference the sequence of the three wounds; and while he surmised that the wound that cut through the vertebrae may have occurred latest in time, he agreed that Ms. Clift could have been on the floor when the abdomen/chest wounds were inflicted. (1/30/13 RP 609-610; 675). He also described defensive cut wounds on the left hand and minor bruising on her face, neck, and elbow. (1/30/13 RP 606-07).

Officers interviewed neighbors in the apartment complex.

Neighbor Carolee Appleton said she did not see anyone going in or out of the apartment on the night of the homicide. (2/1/13 RP 973). On September 10, 1998, a year later, Ms. Appleton told an officer that a month prior to the homicide she had seen two “kids” arrive in a blue pickup truck. (2/1/13 RP 981-82). At that time, Mr. Brugnone, aged 44, owned and drove an older blue pick up truck. (2/4/13 RP 1161; 2/6/13 RP 1313; SE 129 p. 47). Only one of them, the passenger, went into Ms. Cliff’s apartment. (2/1/13 RP 982). She again reported she did not see a vehicle or the “kids” the night of the murder. (2/1/13 RP 985).

On September 17, 1998, she gave a third statement. (2/1/13 RP 987). She again reported that she did not see anyone on the night of the homicide, and again, that she had seen a person three weeks prior to the murder; a man driving a blue pick up truck dropped his friend off at the apartment. (2/1/13 RP 987-88). She described the individual who entered the apartment as late 20s to 30 years old, with a butch type haircut. (2/1/13 RP 990;1035). When he was leaving, she heard him say to the driver of the truck, “C’mon let’s get out of here.” (2/7/13 RP 1562). She believed she heard the same male voice on the night of the homicide. (2/1/13 RP 992).

Fifteen years later, at trial, she denied some of the content of her earlier statements and noted that she did not remember things very well. (2/1/13 RP 992;997;1012;). She testified that on the afternoon of the homicide, between 5:30 and 6:30 pm, she sat with Ms. Clift and another tenant at a picnic table. (2/1/13 RP 951). A man approached the table and said, "I've come with dessert. I'm not taking her to dinner." (2/1/13 RP 952-53). He carried a bag wrapped around a bottle, and followed Ms. Clift into her apartment. (2/1/13 RP 953). Ms. Appelton said someone driving a blue truck had dropped off the man. (2/1/13 RP 954).

Later that night, she thought she heard a man knock lightly on Ms. Clift's door between 1:30 and 2:30 am; he did not enter the apartment. (2/1/13 RP 963; 997). She heard him say, "It's taking too long. C'mon. Hurry." (2/1/13 RP 962). "The kid" then ran back to his truck and another man came running out of the apartment with a towel shielding his face. (2/1/13 RP 998). She testified that although she gave a statement earlier to officers that she may have heard him say "Did you do it?" at trial she said:

"Yes, but I'm not sure that I really heard that then. That's it. I just don't know. He was yelling at the other guy, 'get that started. We've got to get out of here.' He said, 'what did you do?' Something

like that, in that order.” (2/1/13 RP 1013).

Eighty five year old apartment resident Virginia Jones reported that neighbor Lila Powell called her at 11:15 pm saying she heard screams. Ms. Jones went to Ms. Cliff’s apartment and called out for her. When she did not get an answer, she went to Ms. Powell’s apartment. (1/31/13 RP 867). She saw a man run by the door, with his head down, and something shielding his face. He was wearing an unbuttoned shirt, blue jeans, and was between 5’10” and 6’ tall. (1/31/13 RP 849). He ran into Ms. Cliff’s apartment, turned around, and went back out. (1/31/13 RP 861-62). Then she heard the motor of a car start. She saw a car, not a truck. She speculated there was another person in the car, but never saw anyone. (1/31/13 RP 863-64;876).

Investigating officers collected a variety of items from inside Ms. Cliff’s apartment: Marlboro cigarette butts that were located inside, near the front door, and a pair of eyeglasses from the living room. (1/29/13 RP 567). Officers did not recover a knife.

Officers contacted Mr. Gorski on September 2, 1997, and on September 4, 1997, he gave a taped interview. He also gave an untaped interview on September 17, 1997. (1/31/13 RP 725-726). Mr. Gorski told police he had been at Ms. Nunley’s home until

10:30 or 11:00 pm that evening and then went home. At the time, he lived with Mr. Brugnone and Mr. Brugnone's wife. (1/31/13 RP 730).

On April 10, 1998, officers again met with Mr. Gorski and obtained blood and hair samples from him. (1/31/13 RP 732). DNA testing results on the cigarettes and eyeglasses, as well as scrapings from Ms. Cliff's fingernails, were later found to be consistent with the DNA profile of Michael Gorski. (2/4/13 RP 1190-91; 1196; 1201-02). Mr. Brugnone was excluded as a contributor. (2/4/13 RP 1196; 1203;1205). The hammer found in the dish rack was also tested but contained only trace amounts of DNA, which were not matched to anyone. (2/4/13 RP 1193).

In an initial interview with officers, Ms. Nunley did not mention that she had seen or talked to Mr. Brugnone in the days following the homicide, or that he ever asked her to provide him with an alibi. (2/1/13 RP 945-46). She later told police that she had a vague recollection of Mr. Brugnone asking her for an alibi. However, at trial she testified that she didn't know what date it might have happened, didn't know the details, and didn't remember anything about an alibi. (2/1/13 RP 945).

February 22, 2007 and again in 2011, Cecil Toney, gave information to police regarding the unsolved homicide. (1/31/13 RP 783; 2/6/13 RP 1405). He knew Ms. Clift from the restaurants, bars, and lounges in Selah. (1/31/13 RP 775). Ms. Nunley was Mr. Toney's ex-wife. (2/1/13 RP 927).

In a transcribed interview, Mr. Toney reported that sometime between midnight and 12:30 am he drove a friend, whose last name he did not remember, to the apartment the night before the homicide. (1/31/13 RP 837). He made a U-turn near the parking lot and for a 'split second' saw two figures ducking between cars. (1/31/13 RP 787; 809; 843). He identified the men as Michael Gorski and Frank Brugnone. (1/31/13 RP 782).

At trial, he changed the timeline account several times between his original midnight to 12:30 am frame and an 11 pm to midnight time. (1/31/13 RP 800). He testified that rather than the night *before* the murder, he saw them the night *of* the murder. (1/31/13 RP 800). Additionally, the original information of a "split second" view as he made his U-turn, was instead a 30 second to two minute U-turn. (1/31/13 RP 804;808;812-13).

On July 13, 2011, officers placed Mr. Brugnone under arrest. (2/6/13 RP 1491-92). Mr. Brugnone initially told officers he had no

recollection of being at Ms. Cliff's apartment in August 1997. (State Exh. 129 p. 4,14;25;35). Mr. Brugnone pieced together the evening's events over the course of approximately seven hours. ((2/6/13 RP 1506-07; State Exh. 129 p. 57-58).

He remembered he had been to Ms. Cliff's apartment in July 1997, for a one-night stand with her. (State Exh. 129 p. 33). He believed that Mr. Gorski had had at least two sexual encounters with Ms. Cliff. (State Exh. 129 p. 50).

On the evening of the August 28,1997, he and Mr. Gorski had been drinking at the Wagon Wheel. Mr. Gorski and Ms. Cliff danced. (2/1/13 RP 887-88). Ms. Cliff left the tavern. Mr. Gorski asked him to take him to her home. (State Exh. 129 p. 68). When they arrived at the apartment, Ms. Cliff greeted them with hugs. (State Exh. 129 p. 68). They entered the apartment and Mr. Brugnone moved aside while Ms. Cliff and Mr. Gorski whispered and kissed. (State Exh. 129 p. 68). Mr. Gorski removed Ms. Cliff's robe. (State Exh. 129 p.68)

In less than 15-20 minutes, Mr. Gorski pushed or shoved Ms. Cliff into Mr. Brugnone. (State Exh. 129 p. 68). Mr. Brugnone pushed her back and away from him. (State Exh. 129 p. 68; 79). He saw Mr. Gorski push, hit, or stab Ms. Cliff in her back; he wasn't

sure if he saw him use a rod or a knife, describing it as “a big, big long thing, long knife but I couldn’t tell exactly what it looked like or what the handle looked like or anything, it was just a big long thing.” (State Exh. 129 p.68-70;87). As Ms. Clift went to her knees, Mr. Brugnone tried to catch her, but she fell to the floor. (State Exh. 129 p. 70;82). He got down on the floor to see if she was injured and saw blood. (State Exh. 129 p. 82-83).

“I come over and ask her you alright, she’s kinda, well now she’s kinda screaming and groaning and I went asks are you alright. She says I don’t know I think so. I said well, Mike will take care of you. I said I’m leaving.” (State Exh. 129 (82).

He told police that she grabbed him by his shoulder as he stood up. (State Exh. 129 p. 72). Frightened, Mr. Brugnone told Mr. Gorski he was leaving, saying, “I said I’m outta here Mike you did this, you, I’m outta here.” (State Exh. 129 p.71; 72; 74). He reported he “didn’t know what he [Gorski] had done. I didn’t know if he killed her or what you know at that time. I know he’d hurt her.” (State Exh. 129 p. 74).

Mr. Brugnone did not see Mr. Gorski stab her a second time, however, as he was leaving, he thought he saw Mr. Gorski move

toward her and do something to her side. (State Exh.129 p.70;72;83;98). He never saw a hammer. (State Exh.129 p. 94).

He left, sat in his car, and waited for Mr. Gorski . (State Exh. 129 p. 73-74). Mr. Gorski came out to the car, told Mr. Brugnone not to leave, and went back into the apartment. (State Exh.129 p. 75). Mr. Brugnone waited another four or five minutes, and then drove the two of them home. (State Exh.129 p. 76).

Mr. Gorski testified he was not with Mr. Brugnone on the day of the homicide. (2/7/13 RP 1635). He saw Ms. Cliff at the liquor store, gave her a ride home, and at her invitation, went inside her apartment. (2/7/13 RP 1592;1603;1654). They drank gin and smoked cigarettes. (2/7/13 RP 1603). As they sat on the sofa, they kissed and hugged. (2/7/13 RP 1608). He left her apartment between 7:30 and 7:40 pm and went to Ms. Nunley's home until 10 or 10:30 pm and then drove home. (2/7/13 RP 1592; 1609; 1614; 1656). He forgot his eyeglasses and cigarettes at Ms. Cliff's apartment. (2/7/13 RP 1610).

Mr. Brugnone was found guilty of murder in the second degree with a special finding of armed with a deadly weapon. CP 126;155. He makes this timely appeal. CP 166.

III. Argument

The Evidence Was Insufficient To Sustain The Conviction For Murder In the Second Degree As Either An Accomplice Or A Principal.

Appellate review of a sufficiency of the evidence claim arising from a bench trial focuses on whether substantial evidence supports the court's factual findings, and whether the findings support the conclusions of law. *State v. Alvarez*, 105 Wn.App. 215, 220, 19 P.3d 485 (2001). A trial court's legal conclusions are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Setterstrom*, 163 Wn.2d 621, 625, 183 P.3d 1075 (2008).

Mr. Brugnone was charged with murder in the second degree, "acting as a principal or an accomplice to another participant in the crime." To sustain a conviction for murder in the second degree, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant, without premeditation intended to cause the death of another person and caused the death of such person. RCW 9A.32.050(1). A defendant charged as an accomplice to second-degree murder must know that he was facilitating a homicide. *Pers. Restraint Petition of Sarausad* 109 Wn.App. 824, 836, 39 P.3d 308 (2001).

The State's evidence here cannot sustain a conviction as either a principal or an accomplice. There was no direct physical evidence establishing that Mr. Brugnone was a participant in the crime. Rather, the court's oral and written findings of fact citing numerous witness statements as the basis for a finding of guilt are not supported by substantial evidence.

1. Finding of Fact 70 : "Ms. Appleton stated that she heard the person driving the vehicle ask:" Did you do it?"

At trial, Ms. Appleton retracted the officer's summary of her earlier statement:

Q. But in reporting the case you told him {police officer} that you heard one of the men say, 'did you do it?'

A. That's what I think I did.

Q. I get it that he got that part right?

A. Yes, but I'm not sure that I really heard that then.

Q. Okay.

A. That's it. I just don't know. He was yelling at the other guy, get that started. We've got to get out of here. He said, 'What did you do?' Something like that, in that order. (2/1/13 RP 1012-13).

In making its oral findings, the court stated:

"I think the other point – actually, you can thank your attorney on this one, Mr. Brugnone. Because what Ms. Appleton actually testified to on direct examination was that she heard the person driving this vehicle say to the individual who ran out, did you do it? Now, Mr. Banda went back on cross-examination and actually got her to waffle a little bit on that and said, well, could it have been 'what did you do?' I'm

not entirely convinced that the first statement wasn't the most accurate." (2/15/13 RP 1983).

The record does not support the court's finding. The record discloses the witness questioned her own statement. Ms. Appleton's trial statement is especially important because it raised serious doubts about Mr. Brugnone's involvement as either a principal or an accomplice. There is a vast and significant difference between "Did you do it?" and "What did you do?" Because Ms. Appleton could not testify as to what she actually heard, the court's factual finding was in error and does not support the conclusion of law.

2. Finding of Fact 75: "Megan Nunley testified that she has some memory of the Defendant Frank Brugnone asking her for an alibi for the date of August 28, 1997."

Megan Nunley was interviewed by police on September 29, 1997, a month after the homicide. She did not tell police at that time that anyone had asked her for an alibi. (2/1/13 RP 939; 946).

In her testimony she stated:

Q. In the days after you'd learned that she had been killed, did you have any conversation with Frank Brugnone?

A. Not that I remember.

Q. All right. Did Frank Brugnone ask you to do anything after that period of time?

A. Oh, yeah. I vaguely remember him asking for an alibi.

Q. He asked you for an alibi?

A. Yes.

Q. And what did you say?

A. No.

(2/1/13 RP 926).

Q. Okay. Now, you also, ma'am testified something about you vaguely remembered about an alibi, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. But you don't know the details of any alibi correct?

A. I don't.

Q. And you don't know what date it happened, correct?

A. No.

Q. You don't know what was talked about. You don't remember anything regarding the alibi, correct?

A. Yes, that's correct.

(2/1/13 RP 943).

Ms. Nunley's testimony was equivocal: there was a faint memory of a request, but she testified she didn't talk with Mr. Brugnone within days of the homicide, she couldn't remember any details, didn't know when it might have happened, and couldn't remember anything about it. The court's finding that Ms. Nunley vaguely remembered something about an alibi does not support its conclusion of law.

3. Finding of Fact 92: "The Defendant's statement is clearly self-serving" and Finding of Fact 93: "The Defendant's statement is inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial" are not supported by substantial evidence and do not support the conclusions of law.

Mr. Brugnone's lengthy interview was admitted as a statement against interest. ER 801(d)(2). The account he offered to police was consistent with witness testimony.

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