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

done to discredit Mr. Toney and place doubt in the mind of the jury.  

Clearly this was a sound trial tactic.    

Even is the State had “coached” this witness, which clearly was not 

the case, this court in State v. Delarosa-Flores, 59 Wn.App. 514, 799 P.2d 

736 (1990) addressed this issue as follows: 
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   We find no abuse of discretion in allowing the recess 
and consultation between the victim and the prosecuting 
attorney. Mr. Delarosa-Flores could have attacked her 
credibility by cross-examining her as to the nature of the 
consultation and the reasons for the change in her 
testimony. He did not do so. As the court in Geders v. 
United States, 425 U.S. 80, 89-90, 96 S.Ct. 1330, 1336, 47 
L.Ed.2d 592 (1976) observed:  

   The opposing counsel in the adversary system 
is not without weapons to cope with "coached" 
witnesses. A prosecutor may cross-examine a 
defendant as to the extent of any "coaching" 
during a recess ... Skillful cross-examination 
could develop a record [to be used] in closing 
argument ... raising questions as to the 
defendant's credibility ... 

       Moreover, there is an important ethical distinction 
between a prosecutor discussing testimony and improperly 
seeking to influence it. Geders, 425 U.S. at 90 n. 3, 96 
S.Ct. at 1336 n. 3; see also Musgrave v. State, 555 So.2d 
1190 (Ala.Crim.App.1989). Contra United States v. Malik, 
800 F.2d 143 (7th Cir.1986); State v. Prater, 13 Ohio 
App.3d 98, 468 N.E.2d 356 (1983), overruled on other 
grounds, State v. Heidelburg, 30 Ohio App.3d 265, 507 
N.E.2d 1149 (1986). Here, there was no evidence the State 
did anything more than refresh the victim's recollection as 
to previous statements. There is no evidence to suggest the 
State urged her to create testimony. Further, her testimony 
after the recess was consistent with her initial report to the 
police. We find no error. 
 
Even if this court were to find error State v. Carlin, 40 Wn. App. 

698, 700 P.2d 323 (1985) addresses the method of review where, as here, 

the totality of “untainted” evidence is overwhelming, “The Washington 

Supreme Court has applied two different tests to determine whether error 

is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Under the "contribution" test, the 



 31

question is whether the tainted evidence contributed to the finding of guilt. 

Under the "overwhelming evidence" test, the question is whether the 

untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it leads necessarily to a 

finding of guilt. Harris, at 157-58; State v. Jones, 101 Wn.2d 113, 125, 

677 P.2d 131 (1984).” 

As set forth above the evidence presented by the State was 

overwhelming, State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 92 P.3d 228 (2004): 

This constitutional error may be considered harmless if 
we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any 
reasonable trier of fact would have reached the same 
result despite the error. State v. Brown, 140 Wash.2d 456, 
468-69, 998 P.2d 321 (2000). To make this 
determination, we utilize the "overwhelming untainted 
evidence" test. State v. Smith, 148 Wash.2d 122, 139, 59 
P.3d 74 (2002). Under this test, we consider the untainted 
evidence admitted at trial to determine if it is so 
overwhelming [92 P.3d 236] that it necessarily leads to a 
finding of guilt. Id. 
 

Even if there was an error as Thompson states that error was 

harmless or as Delarosa-Flores addressed and as was done in this case the 

two highly trained and skilled defense attorneys gave the jury every 

chance to find doubt in Mr. Toney’s testimony.  Mr. Toney testimony was 

helpful to the State’s case but; the fact that Mr. Gorski placed himself in 

the victim’s apartment on the night she was murdered a story that was far 

from believable, Gorski’s DNA found beneath this dead woman’s 

fingernails, fingernails on hands that showed signs of defensive wounds, 
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Gorski’s DNA found on cigarettes in the victim’s apartment along with his 

eye-glasses found at the crime scene, other witnesses stating that Gorski 

had known the victim previously even though he denied knowing her, the 

fact that the physical description of the “buddies” who came to the 

victim’s apartment in the past in a loud blue full sized pickup truck, proof 

that Gorski’s “blood brother” and codefendant owned just such a truck and 

the fact that the officers were able to exclude other persons of interest, the 

fact that one of the two persons was seen going back into the crime scene 

even though a neighbor had just pounded on the door of the victim clearly 

and attempt to retrieve something or somethings (glasses and cigarettes?)  

All of this overwhelming evidence together more than support the 

conviction even if Mr. Toney had not testified.     

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION TWO (Gorski), ALLEGATION “I” 
(Brugnone) – Sufficiency of the evidence.    
 

Both appellants raise the issue of the sufficiency of the evidence 

presented that this joint trial.  The simple answer is that the evidence was 

overwhelming with regard to both defendants.    

In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this 

court will view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State to 

determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 
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94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 

443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)). A defendant 

claiming insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all 

reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the State, with circumstantial 

evidence and direct evidence considered equally reliable. State v. Salinas, 

119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992); State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 

634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).    The elements of a crime can be 

established by both direct and circumstantial evidence.   State v. Brooks, 

45 Wn. App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986).   One is no less valuable than 

the other.  There is sufficient evidence to support the conviction if a 

rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime proven beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally 

reliable. State v. Dejarlais, 88 Wash. App. 297, 305, 944 P.2d 1110 

(1997), aff'd, 136 Wash.2d 939, 969 P.2d 90 (1998).  

Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not 

subject to review. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 

(1990).  "It is axiomatic in criminal trials that the prosecution bears the 

burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the 

accused as the person who committed the offense." State v. Hill, 83 

Wn.2d 558, 560, 520 P.2d 618 (1974). 
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Once again the decision to allow this to go to the jury, and to the 

bench, was a discretionary ruling on the part of the court.   Discretion is 

abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. 

State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wash.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).    

As stated above the evidence regarding Gorski was extensive and 

overwhelming.  The DNA evidence alone was damning.  Gorski’s 

testimony did nothing to address how his DNA was found basically 

embedded underneath the fingernails of a dead person who he testified he 

had never met before until he grudgingly gave her a ride home, 

coincidentally on the day she was murdered.   His testimony addressed 

how his DNA was found on this dead person was that after about twenty 

minutes the victim just starts kissing Gorski and they proceeded to 

mutually start to touch.   Gorski testified that he stopped the victim but the 

next thing he knew she was “crawling, mauling, kissing, hugging, pulling” 

at him.  He stated it was not mutual.  2/7/13 RP 1608, 1660   He testified 

that the victim unbuttoned his shirt and after a few minutes he grabbed his 

two bottles and just walked out. 2/7/13 RP 1608-9   

Gorski’s own testimony did as much to convict him as did any 

other individual piece of evidence.  When he took the stand he was 

familiar with the case against him and was able to come up with a reason 

for everything in the victim’s apartment, his glasses, well he always took 
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them off when he sat down, the cigarette butts well he had asked for an 

ashtray but she had none so he put them in some top and they must have 

been dumped, the victim’s DNA on one of the cigarette butts well this 

non-smoking victim took it from him as she had done this his bottle of 

alcohol.   Gorski even addressed the victim’s daughter’s testimony that her 

mother was not a smoker.  Gorski stated that he too thought that she was 

not a smoker because she was not as comfortable with the cigarette.  No 

other reasoning why obvious non-smoker would even take his cigarette in 

the first place, it just happened and therefore the DNA from Gorski and 

the victim on the same item was explained.  But there was no reasonable 

explanation for the number of cigarettes found if he was there for only 

twenty minutes before his fled in disgust from an apartment that he said 

appeared to be occupied by a hoarder and which smelled bad.    

Obviously the jury did not buy this story, State v. Camarillo, 115 

Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).  Credibility determinations are for the 

trier of fact and are not subject to review. 

The facts presented to the jury were without a doubt sufficient to 

meet the test set forth in, State v. Bucknell, 183 P.3d 1078, 1080 (WA 

2008);  

In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, the 
test is whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most 
favorable to the jury's verdict, any rational trier of fact 
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could have found the essential elements of the crime 
beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 
216, 220-21, 16 P.2d 628 (1980). All reasonable 
inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of 
the State and interpreted most strongly against the 
defendant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 
P.2d 1068 (1992). The elements of a crime may be 
established by either direct or circumstantial evidence, 
and one type is no more valuable than the other. State v. 
Thompson, 88 Wn.2d 13, 16, 558 P.2d 202, appeal 
dismissed, 434 U.S. 898 (1977). "Credibility 
determinations are within the sole province of the jury 
and are not subject to review." State v. Myers, 133 
Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997). Assessing 
discrepancies in trial testimony and the weighing of 
evidence are also within the sole province of the fact 
finder. State v. Longuskie, 59 Wn. App. 838, 844, 801 
P.2d 1004 (1990).  (Emphasis mine.) 
 
Brugnone’s challenge is even more daunting.  In his four hour 

confession he changed his story from I know nothing to I was there and 

saw her stabbed but I had nothing to do with her actual death.  The most 

chilling and telling statements made by Brugnone were when he says he 

was down with the victim whom he obviously knew had been stabbed or 

injured and he states to her “Mike will take care of you” and he states to 

Gorski, “You need to take care of this.”  

“I come over and ask her you alright, she’s kinda, well 
now she’s kinda screaming and groaning and I went asks 
are you alright. She says I don’t know I think so. I said 
well, Mike will take care of you. I said I’m leaving.” 
(State Ex. 129 p. 82).   He also stated “…I looked around 
and I seen blood and I said well Mike will take care of 
you, I’m leavin….I’m thinkin oh shit I’m outta, I’m 
getting outta here Mike.  I’m leavin and as I’m goin by 
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here he’s saying wait for me.  I said well I ‘m not waitin 
long, I’m getting outta here.”  (Gorski CP 60-1) 

 
He admits that he has had a sexual relationship with the victim as 

had Gorski.  He states that he drove them over to the apartment on the 

night Carolyn was murdered, that he was part of the “pushing” back and 

forth that was going on between Gorski and Carolyn that he saw a knife 

that was big or perhaps it was just a bar and she was not bleeding but she 

was and the was scared of what Mike would do and yet when he had the 

chance to flee the scene and get the police Brugnone shoes instead to stay 

waiting for his “blood brother’ to “take care” of Carolyn.    

The original agreement to allow or use a redacted version of this 

statement was later set aside.  One of the main protagonists for the use of 

the entire statement was counsel for Brugnone who made it clear that the 

theory of the case was that this statement had been coerced from Brugnone 

and that he really did not voluntarily make the admissions that came out, 

that in fact the officers had planted the needed information in this 

statement.    

State v. Banks, 149 Wash.2d 38, 43, 65 P.3d 1198 (2003), “The 

criminal rules for superior court judges require that, following a bench 

trial, the judge enter findings of fact and conclusions of law. CrR 6.1(d). 

Findings and conclusions comprise a record that may be reviewed on 
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appeal. State v. Head, 136 Wash.2d 619, 622, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998). Each 

element must be addressed separately, setting out the factual basis for each 

conclusion of law. Id. at 623, 964 P.2d 1187. In addition, the findings 

must specifically state that an element has been met. State v. Alvarez, 128 

Wash.2d 1, 19, 904 P.2d 754 (1995)”  

The trial court sitting as the finder of fact started its ruling finding 

Brugnone guilty of murder as follows: 

Your actions on August 28th of 1997 do not support an 
innocent bystander theory in any way, shape or form. I want 
to first start with your statement. The defense has made 
much of the fact that your statement is the only thing tying 
you to Ms. Clift's apartment on the night of the murder. I 
disagree with this position and will articulate the 
additional evidence after discussing your statement.  
2/15/13 RP 1977, CP 134-147/   
 
The court then spent the next twenty pages of transcript making its 

oral ruling.  The ruling was later memorialized by the court in its findings 

and conclusions.   CP 148-156.   The written findings and conclusions in 

Brugnone’s case were derived from the court having sat through this joint 

trial and included the lengthy review of Brugnone’s statement to the 

police.   Sweeten v. Kauzlarich, 38 Wn. App. 163, 169, 684 P.2d 789 

(1984) oral opinion does not become final unless or until it is incorporated 

in written findings of fact and conclusions of law; oral decision can be 

used to explain but not to impeach written findings and conclusions.   
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This court should first note that of the “97” findings of fact set out 

by the trial court in its written ruling for the CrR 3.5 hearing and the trial 

itself, Brugnone only assigned error to findings numbers 70, 75, 92, 93, 94 

of the trial court's written, or oral, findings of fact. Thus, this court will 

consider the remaining findings verities on appeal. State v. Brockob, 159 

Wash.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing State v. Hill, 123 Wash.2d 

641, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)). 

In addition, even if the trial court's written findings are incomplete 

or inadequate, this court can look to the trial court's oral findings to aid our 

review. State v. Robertson, 88 Wash.App. 836, 843, 947 P.2d 765 (1997), 

review denied, 135 Wash.2d 1004, 959 P.2d 127 (1998).   In its oral ruling 

before issuing its written findings and conclusions, the trial court here 

discussed (1) the relevant facts in relation to the law and (2) the way in 

which the facts and testimony supported the elements of each offense. 

Reviewing the trial court's written findings and conclusions together with 

its oral ruling should persuades this court that the trial court clearly and 

thoroughly considered each element of the offense to include liability both 

as an accomplice and as a principle.   Finally, given the written findings of 

facts that the trial court did enter, there is no probability that the outcome 

of the bench trial would have differed if the challenged findings were 

removed from the record.   Further even if the trial court had failed to 
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make findings regarding essential elements of this crime, which clearly the 

challenged finding are not, this court ruled in See Banks, supra, 149 

Wn.2d at 45-46, 65 P.3d 1198 (court's failure to enter finding on essential 

element following bench trial was harmless error).  

Even if the findings were in error this type of error is subject to 

harmless error analysis. Banks, 149 Wash.2d at 43-44, 65 P.3d 1198 

(citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 7, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 

35 (1999); State v. Brown, 147 Wash.2d 330, 344, 58 P.3d 889 (2002)). 

To determine whether such an error is harmless, this court shall examine 

whether " 'it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained 

of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.' “Brown, 147 Wash.2d at 

341, 58 P.3d 889 (quoting Neder, 527 U.S. at 15, 119 S.Ct. 1827).”An 

error is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where there is a 

reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been 

different had the error not occurred .... A reasonable probability exists 

when confidence in the outcome of the trial is undermined." State v.

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